IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CORNELIUS BAKER,)	
)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NUMBER SC09-549
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
	_)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 254-3758 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal comprises twenty-one consecutively numbered volumes. Unfortunately, the page numbers are not numbered consecutively throughout all twenty-one volumes. Counsel will refer to the appropriate volume number using a Roman numeral followed by the pertinent page number using Arabic numerals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 17, 2007, the 2006 fall term grand jury in and for Flagler County, Seventh Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, returned an indictment charging the appellant, Cornelius Ozell Baker, with one count of first-degree murder, one count of home-invasion robbery with a firearm, one count of kidnaping, one count of conspiracy, one count of burglary of a conveyance, and one count of aggravated fleeing and eluding a law enforcement officer. (I 19-24)

Prior to trial, the state announced their decision not to pursue the count of conspiracy as well as the burglary of conveyance charge.

Appellant filed a motion to suppress his statement to detectives following his arrest. (XXX 456-459) Following a hearing on April 25, 2008, the trial court denied the motion. (VII 1-37) The statement was subsequently introduced at trial over appellant's renewed objection. (XIII 811-906; State's Exhibit 15)

Prior to trial, appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty sentencing scheme. (I 63-95; II 186-330, 333-335) The trial court consistently denied those challenges. (III 465-473; VI 33-49, 74-91)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Kim C. Hammond. Following deliberations, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged on the four counts submitted. (III 474-79)

At the ensuing penalty phase, the state presented victim impact evidence. (XVII 37-49) Defense counsel objected to portions of the victim impact statements. Counsel contended that portions did not demonstrate the victim's uniqueness and the resultant loss to the community. Additionally, some portions constituted an improper characterization or opinion of the crime and the defendant. (XVII 6-34)

Appellant testified at his own penalty phase. (XVIII 167-184) On redirect following cross-examination, defense counsel elicited testimony that appellant had written a letter of apology to the victim's family. The state objected to appellant reading his letter. The trial court sustained the state's objection and refused to allow the reading of the letter. (XVIII 183-184)

Following deliberations the jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three. (III 480)

In sentencing appellant to death, the trial court found three aggravating circumstances:

- (1) The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain merged with the additional factor that the murder was committed while engaged in the commission of home-invasion robbery or kidnapping (these two factors merged into one, which was given great weight);
 - (2) The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (great

weight); and

(3) The capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (IV 562-65)

In mitigation, the trial court found:

- (1) The crime was committed while appellant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (some weight);
- (2) The capacity of the appellant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired (little weight):
- (3) Appellant's chronological age of twenty, as well as his mental age of fifteen (some weight);
- (4) Appellant's brain damage, low intellectual functioning, and drug abuse (some weight);
- (5) Appellant's fetal alcohol exposure, abusive household, and neglect as a child (some weight);
 - (6) Appellant's remorse (little weight);
- (7) Appellant's good behavior during all court proceedings (little weight); and
 - (8) Appellant's confession and cooperation with police (some weight).

(III 565-71)

In addition to the death sentence for the murder of Elizabeth Uptagrafft the trial court sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for the home-invasion robbery with a firearm and a consecutive life sentence for the kidnapping. The trial court also sentenced appellant to a consecutive fifteen-year sentence for the aggravated fleeing and eluding a law enforcement officer. The trial court ordered all sentences to run consecutive to the death sentence. (IV 571-572)

Appellant filed a notice of appeal on March 14, 2009. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Guilt Phase

The Home Invasion

Charlene Burns, lived with her adult daughter, Elizabeth Uptagrafft, also known as Dean Uptagrafft, in a house located at 339 Michigan Avenue in Daytona Beach, Volusia County, Florida. (XII 704-715) At approximately 9:00 on the morning of January 7, 2007, Ms. Burns heard a terrible noise at the front door. The family was the victim of a violent home invasion. Joel Uptagrafft, Elizabeth Uptagrafft's son, and Ms. Burns were both in bed, when Cornelius Baker and Patricia Roosa violently entered the front door. As they did so, Elizabeth Uptagrafft was wounded by a bullet grazing the side of her head. (XII 715-718)

Cornelius Baker, the appellant, and his co-defendant, girlfriend, Patricia Roosa had entered the home uninvited. While Roosa held the three occupants at gunpoint, appellant ransacked the house for approximately two hours seeking money, jewelry, or anything of value. Baker denied Burns' request to tend to her daughter's head wound. (XII 715-718) During the course of the home invasion, Baker also pistol-whipped Joel Uptagrafft, Elizabeth's son. (XII 718-720) When they left the house, Roosa and Baker also took everyone's cell phone and any other telephones in the house. They also forced Ms. Uptagrafft to accompany them

so that they could use her ATM card to obtain money from her bank account.

Roosa and Baker wanted to make sure that Uptagrafft did not lie to them about her PIN. (XVII 722-724)

Later that day, Sergeant Burke, a Bunnell police officer spotted Uptagrafft's car, which had been reported stolen. Being the small town that Bunnell is, Sergeant Burke recognized Cornelius Baker, a life-long resident of Bunnell, behind the wheel of the car. He gave pursuit while Baker led the officer on a high speed chase.

Baker ultimately crashed the car and ran away. Sergeant Burke arrested Patricia Roosa at the scene. Police found Joel Uptagrafft's wallet in the car as well as a bag of jewelry. (XII 765-773) Police subsequently received information as to the whereabouts of Cornelius Baker. They arrested him without incident at a Bunnell residence. (XII 776-781)

At the time of her apprehension, Patricia Roosa had Mrs. Uptagrafft's Bank of America debit card in her possession. (XIV 923-24; State Exhibit 17) Roosa also had a cell phone and a battery cover in her possession. (XIV 923) At the time of his arrest, Cornelius Baker had \$401.00 in United States currency in his possession. (XIV 924)

Appellant's Confession

Following his arrest, police took appellant to the Flagler County Sheriff's office where he was interviewed following advisement of his constitutional rights. (XIII 806-906) The police made a bargain with Baker that allowed him to spend some time with his girlfriend and co-defendant, Patricia Roosa. (See Point I) After reaching an agreement, appellant gave a full confession of his involvement in the home invasion of the Uptagrafft home, the kidnaping and robbery of Elizabeth Uptagrafft, and the subsequent shooting of Elizabeth Uptagrafft.

Appellant explained that he and his girlfriend, Patricia Roosa, were broke and wanted to leave the Daytona Beach area. They wanted to head to New York, where Roosa was from originally. They chose the Uptagrafft home at random. It looked to be a house where the occupants might have some money. They also noticed the Crown Victoria automobile in the driveway. (XIII 897-900)

After picking the house, Roosa knocked on the door while Baker stood back approximately ten feet at the corner of the house. (XIII 898) As soon as he saw the front door open, Baker ran past Roosa into the house. When they entered, Baker's intention was to rob the occupants without infliction of substantial injuries. When his gun went off and the bullet grazed Uptagrafft's head, Baker "freaked out." (XIII 899-900) The pair stole jewelry and telephones. They did not find any money in the house.

Baker took Uptagrafft with them when they left the house because he feared that she might provide him with the wrong PIN for her ATM card. (XIII 889) His original plan was to get the money from the ATM and drop Uptagrafft back at the house, a hospital, or somewhere on the side of the road. (XIII 889) Baker subsequently became nervous when he saw lots of police in the Daytona Beach area and decided to head for Flagler county instead. (XIII 889-90) During the ride, Baker provided Uptagrafft with cigarettes when she requested. (XIII 890)

Baker explained "And because I honestly didn't plan on shooting her again, it never crossed my mind to shoot her again." (XIII 890) Baker assured Uptagrafft that he intended to let her live so long as she cooperated. (XIII 891) Subsequently, Baker decided that the rural area, where the body was ultimately found, would be a good place to drop off Uptagrafft. Baker explained it would take her some time to walk back to civilization to call authorities. (XIII 891-92)

After driving for some way down a dirt road, Baker stopped the car.

Uptagrafft got out of the car. Baker told her that she was going to live.

As she walked away, Baker drove approximately fifteen feet before he had a

¹ The couple took Uptagrafft to two different ATM locations where Roosa attempted to obtain cash. It is unclear if she was successful. Baker stayed in the car with Uptagrafft while Roosa attempted to use the ATM card at Winn Dixie and SunTrust. (XIII 892-94)

chance to park. "I was like, no, like, oh, and I just jumped out of the car." (XIII 874) Roosa warned Baker, "Don't do it." (XIII 874) Baker told the detectives, "I felt like I done came this far." (XIII 874) When Baker jumped out of the car, Uptagrafft began to run into the bushes. That is when Baker shot her. (XIII 874-75) Baker fired his gun twice in rapid succession as he ran after her. (XIII 875-876) Baker believed that she had tripped and was falling as he shot her. (XIII 875-77) After she was shot, Uptagrafft continued to move. Baker, fearing that someone had heard the shots, quickly ran back to the car and took off. (XIII 877)

Once Baker led authorities to the body, Baker again asserted that "it wasn't supposed to go down like that". (XIII 910) Baker expressed sorrow over the end result. (XIII 910)

The Autopsy

Dr. Terrance Steiner, a pathologist, performed an autopsy on Elizabeth Uptagrafft on January 9, 2007. (XV 1029-31) Uptagrafft suffered a bullet graze on the left side of her head. (XV 1035) Uptagrafft suffered another bullet wound that began on the left side of her neck and exited from her lower left back. That bullet went through her chest and fractured three of her ribs. (XV 1035-37) That projectile was recovered from Uptagrafft's blouse at the time of the autopsy. The doctor found a third bullet wound to the left side of Uptagrafft's forehead. The

angle of this wound appeared to be almost straight on, perhaps slightly downward. The stippling of the skin indicated the gun was fired within eighteen inches of her head. (XV 1040-44) Uptagrafft died as a result of gunshot injuries to her head, neck, and chest. (XV 1045) Dr. Steiner could not determine the sequence of the wound. However, in all medical probability, the forehead wound was the final wound as it was almost immediately fatal. (XV 1046-47)

II. Penalty Phase

Victim Impact

Although the state did not present any additional evidence of aggravating factors at the penalty phase, they did present two victim impact statements, one from the victim's mother, Charlene Burns, and another from Reverend Joel Keith Uptagrafft, the homicide victim's son who was also a victim of the home invasion. (XVII 37-49) The victim's family described how wonderful Ms. Uptagrafft was and how much she meant to them.

Evidence in Mitigation

Dr. Harry Krop, a licensed forensic psychologist, evaluated Cornelius Baker prior to trial. The evaluation included three separate interviews as well as neuro-psychological testing. Dr. Krop also interviewed family members and reviewed police reports, Baker's statement to police, school records, and medical records.

Dr. Krop also reviewed an MRI done by a neurologist as well as a PET scan. (XVII 50-58)

Cornelius Baker's mother admitted that she used alcohol and drugs throughout her adult life as well as during her pregnancy with Cornelius². (XXVII 60) Cornelius's mother and father were absent during much of his formative years. His father was in and out of prison from the time Cornelius was two. The father did some time for sexually abusing Cornelius's brother, who was one year older than Cornelius³. (XVII 60) One of Cornelius's sisters admitted that she was also sexually abused by the father. (XVII 60-61) When the father was not in prison, he also abused alcohol and drugs. (XVII 61) When Baker's mother was present, she physically abused the children with switches and brushes. (XVII 61) When Cornelius was five, he and the other children were removed from his mother's custody because of her neglect and abuse. (XVII 62)

Social services referred Cornelius for his first psychological evaluation when he was only seven years old. (XVII 66-67) At that point, his IQ was 74, which placed him in the lowest two percent of the general population and is considered

² The use of drugs and alcohol during pregnancy increases the risk of intellectual deficits, learning disabilities, and sometimes physical deficits. (XVII 63)

³ After the father was released from prison, he was not

borderline intellectual functioning. He was diagnosed as having attention deficit hyperactivity disorder as well as developmental articulation disorder, basically a speech impediment.⁴ (XVII 67) Dr. Krop's testing indicated an IQ of 81 at the time of trial. (XVII 83) This placed Baker in the eighth percentile of the population. (XVII 84) Krop calculated Baker's mental age at fourteen or fifteen where he would remain for the rest of his life. (XVII 84)

A PET scan revealed an abnormal frontal lobe in Baker's brain. (XVII 90)

Dr. Krop diagnosed Cornelius Baker with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder by history, a current attention deficit disorder, and a cognitive disorder, not otherwise specified most likely resulting from the frontal lobe impairment. This problem results in lack of impulse control. (XVII 97) Dr. Krop also diagnosed polysubstance abuse based on Baker's use of marijuana since the age of twelve and heavy alcohol consumption from the age of sixteen. (XVII 97) Dr. Krop also diagnosed Baker with anit-social personality disorder. (XVII 98-99) Additionally, because of Baker' dysfunctional family, Baker had a very low self-concept. (XVII 100)

Dr. Krop opined that Appellant was suffering from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. (XVII 101-102) Dr. Krop also

permitted contact with his children. (XVII 64)

concluded that Baker suffered from significant brain damage. (XVII 104)

Additionally, the severity of the dysfunctionality of Appellant's family situation,
the abuse and neglect, impoverished upbringing, Appellant's own substance abuse,
and his cognitive problems certainly contributed to Baker's behavior that day.

(XVII 103-104)

Appellant's mother testified and admitted that she drank beer and gin three or four days out of the week while she was pregnant with Cornelius. Additionally, she smoked marijuana while she was pregnant. (XVII 126) Cornelius's father, Peter Baker, never married the mother. (XVII 125) Peter Baker also suffered from drug and alcohol problems, including crack cocaine. (XVII 127) When Cornelius was only two, Peter Baker stabbed the children's mother and was sent to prison. He had no contact with the children after that. (XVII 128)

Baker's siblings corroborated the fact that Cornelius had a difficult childhood. In school, Cornelius stayed in special classes for the most part. School authorities made him repeat kindergarten. (XVII 129-130) When Cornelius was in the first grade, his brother hit him in the eye with a rock causing him to eventually lose vision in that eye. (XVII 130-131) Around the same time, Cornelius and the rest of his siblings were removed from their mother's care for the remainder of their

⁴ Essentially, Baker stuttered.

childhood. (XVII 130-132) The children nevertheless remained in the same housing project in Bunnell under the supervision of his great grandmother. When she died, the children were placed with their grandmother. (XVII 131-132)

Appellant's Testimony at Penalty Phase

Cornelius Baker celebrated his twentieth birthday three and a half months before Mrs. Uptagrafft's murder. (XVIII 167-168) Baker described his childhood growing up in the housing project in Bunnell, Florida. Because of his mother's drinking and drug use as well as the fact that his father was absent, Cornelius and his siblings were raised mostly by their grandmother. (XVIII 168-70) Cornelius described his problems in school which were exacerbated by his speech impediment, his eye injury, his hyperactivity, and his learning disabilities. (XVIII 170-73)

Baker was involved in lots of fights at school. When he was approximately ten years old, Cornelius began hanging out with an older crowd. That is when he began smoking marijuana, drinking alcohol, and selling drugs. (XVIII 173-174)

As the motive for the burglary, Baker explained that he and Patricia had no money, but wanted to go to New York. (XVIII 176-78) Baker expressed remorse about what happened that fateful day. He acknowledged that he had done things that he should not have done, but seemed surprised that it went as far as it did that

day. (XVIII 178) He felt genuine remorse the day it happened. He admitted that he cried both before and after his interrogation. He also cried when he led law enforcement to the victim's body. (XVIII 178-79)

Spencer Hearing

Cornelius Baker's younger sister (by one year) described Baker's remorse following his arrest. When she visited him in jail, he told her how sorry he was and how he wished that he could change things. He could never look her in the eye and frequently cried. (XX 51-53) She recounted the alcohol abuse in her family, especially their mother who drank during her pregnancies. The mother would frequently beat the children while under the influence of alcohol. (XX 53-56) The alcohol abuse became bad enough that Cornelius' younger sister as well as other children were removed from the home and cared for by their grandmother. (XX 56)

Baker's sister described the early years of their lives as filled with poverty and lack of family structure. (XX 57-64) Other children made fun of Baker.

Because of his eye injury, they called him "one-eyed Willy." (XX 57) The children lacked authority figures, although their mother would administer frequent beatings. (XX 58-59) She described Cornelius Baker's as "childlike". His low IQ was a major factor in his failings. (XX 59-62)

Jessica, his younger sister by one year, was the lucky one. At the age of five

she was adopted by a more financially secure family in Deltona. (XX 63-64) As a result, she received positive reinforcement, both financially and spiritually. She got help with her school work and became an honor student. (XX 63)

Felicia Baker, appellant's older sister by three years, described their mother as "stay[ing] drunk all the time." (XX 68) Felicia was given away by her mother when she was six weeks old and was raised by her grandmother. (XX 66-67) She confirmed the poverty and the beatings that accompanied their deprived childhood. (XX 66-70) Felicia also confirmed that Cornelius was always in the special education classes because of his learning disabilities. (XX 71) She also saw evidence of his remorse. (XX 72-73)

Cornelius Baker also testified at his own *Spencer* hearing. He described how rough his childhood was. He had an absent father and an absent mother. He was picked on as a child because of his poverty and his eye injury. He resented the fact that his mother delayed medical care that could have saved his vision. (XX 75-76) Because of the patch he was forced to wear, he was not able to play the sports that he loved. (XX 76-77) He had learning difficulties at school and suffered from attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. (XX 77) The prescribed Ritalin seem to make things worse. (XX 77-78)

He described the events of that day with regret. Needing money to pay the

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