# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CORNELIUS O. BAKER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC09-549

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

(IB 50).

The State asserts that this account was neither unrefuted nor even a reasonable explanation of the murder. Appellant could have dropped off Ms. Uptagrafft in any remote location if his desire were to "leave the area before Uptagrafft was able to report the crime." Instead, Appellant chose a location that was not only remote, but was also suitable for concealing Ms. Uptagrafft's body to prevent its discovery.

Moreover, Appellant's "sudden change of heart" account, in addition to being unreasonable, was refuted by physical evidence.

Appellant claimed later in his confession that he shot Ms. Uptagrafft

twice in quick succession as she was running away from him (XVII 874-77). However, the medical examiner testified that Ms. Uptagrafft's face showed stippling, which demonstrate that she had been shot in the forehead at close range, no more than 18 inches away (XV 1042-1043). The physical evidence simply did not match Appellant's description of the shooting. Rather, the physical evidence was consistent with an execution-type killing, or more to the point, with Appellant's initial indication that he formulated his plan to shoot Ms. Uptagrafft long before he put her out of the car in the Mondex.

This court faced a similar murder in <a href="Wright v. State">Wright told these witnesses that he drove the victims to a remote, isolated orange grove ten miles from where they were carjacked. After the victims insisted that they had nothing to surrender, Wright exited the vehicle and shot one of the victims. Wright then shot the other victim, who was pleading that Wright not to commit the murder. While one of the victims was still breathing, crawling, and moaning, Wright shot him in the head with a shotgun.

<u>Wright</u>, 19 So.3d at 299. This court found that the record disclosed sufficient evidence to support the CCP aggravator. Id. at 299-300.

Even if Appellant did not plan to kill Ms. Uptgrafft until he reached the location where he killed her, the evidence would still be sufficient to support the CCP aggravator. Appellant still had time to reflect on his actions, and concluded, "I felt like I done came this far. I really -- shit, you know, I jumped out of the car and she started to run. She ran in the bushes, and that's when I shot her." (XIII 874-75). In this respect, this case is similar to Durocher v. State, 596 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 1992):

Durocher told the detective that he wanted to rob someone and steal a car so that he would have money and transportation for a Louisiana. When he walked by the store where the victim worked, he decided to rob it. He then walked back to his mother's house, packed his clothes, picked up a shotgun he had previously purchased, and walked back to the store. At the store the clerk told Durocher that the business operated solely on credit and that there was no money on the premises. Durocher stood there for a few minutes and then shot the clerk and took thirty to forty dollars and his car keys from him. He told the detective: "I was going to rob the man but after thinking about it I decided it would probably be better to go ahead and kill him then that way the police could not pin it to me." Durocher then wiped his fingerprints off things he had touched, locked the store's front and back doors, and drove away in the victim's car. This sequence of events demonstrates the calculation and planning necessary to the heightened premeditation required to find the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator.

Like the defendant in <u>Durocher</u>, Appellant decided to rob a victim in order to fund a trip out of town, and decided along the way that he might as well kill her while he's at it. Appellant had ample time to reflect upon his actions prior to the killing. The record here shows far more planning than the defendant in Durocher.

Parker v. State, 873 So.2d 270 (Fla. 2004), is also similar. There, the defendants robbed a store, placed a store clerk in their car, drove her to a remote location, and shot and stabbed her. Evidence showed that the victim was told she was going to be let go, but also that she was frightened. Parker, 873 So.2d 287-88. The medical examiner testified that the stab wound in the victim's abdomen would have been a "painful wound," that it was inflicted while she was alive, and that the trajectory of the bullet was consistent

with Slater being stabbed, falling to her knees and then being shot in the back of the head. Id. This Court held as follows:

The record supports the trial court's finding of The defendants deliberately themselves with a knife and gun, removed Slater from the store after the robbery, and then drove thirteen miles to a remote location where Parker asked for the gun and then shot Slater execution-style in the back of the head. Further, no evidence was presented that Slater's murder occurred suddenly as the result of a struggle, see Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685, 696 (Fla.1995) (finding the CCP aggravator inapplicable where the evidence showed that the murder occurred when the victim resisted during a struggle and the evidence did not show the defendant planned to kill the victim), or was committed in a rash or spontaneous way. See Mahn State, 714 So.2d 391, 398 (Fla.1998) (concluding that the trial court erred in finding CCP where the "rash and spontaneous killing evidenced no analytical thinking, no conscious and well-developed plan to kill"). Thus, we conclude that the trial court did not err in finding CCP as an aggravating factor.

Id. at 288.

In short, the record discloses sufficient evidence from which the court could find the CCP aggravator. Appellant has failed to show that the court erred in making this finding.

## Harmless error

Even if the court erred in finding the CCP aggravator, any error was harmless. While this Court has held that CCP is one of the "most serious aggravators set out in the statutory scheme," the heinous, atrocious and cruel (HAC) aggravator is equally serious. Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 625 (Fla. 2006)(noting that HAC and CCP were among "the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory scheme,"

citing <u>Larkins v. State</u>, 739 So.2d 90, 95 (Fla.1999)). As discussed in Issue V below, the evidence supported the HAC aggravator, as well as the commission of felony and pecuniary gain aggravators. As such, any error in finding the CCP aggravator would be harmless.

#### ISSUE V

IS THERE COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE? (Restated)

#### Standard of review

This Court's review of claims that the trial court improperly found an aggravating circumstance is limited to determining whether the trial judge applied the correct rule of law and, if so, whether competent, substantial evidence supports the finding. England v. State, 940 So.2d 389, 402 (Fla. 2006)(citing Hutchinson v. State, 882 So.2d 943, 958 (Fla. 2004)).

## The trial court's ruling

The trial court in its sentencing order found the HAC aggravator

(IV 564-65). The trial court made the following findings:

In this case the evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt that Elizabeth Uptagrafft was brutally murdered at point blank range after suffering through an extraordinarily prolonged and tortuous ordeal. After opening the door to her home she was pistol whipped; the gun went off with the bullet grazing the side of her head serious, painful causing a gash. Uptagrafft then watched as her mother, Charlene Burns, who suffers from chronic pulmonary disease and uses oxygen tubes to breathe, was choked and kicked by Cornelius Baker. The three were held at gunpoint by Co-Defendant Patricia Roosa for approximately two hours Cornelius Baker ransacked the home.

Before being forced to leave her home at gunpoint, Ms. Uptagrafft was compelled to change from her bloody clothes and to cover her bleeding would with a hat. Cornelius Baker took the time to go to his motel room, steal money from Ms. Uptagrafft's checking account and to shop for marijuana in Bunnell while Ms. Uptagrafft ay bleeding in the backseat. The Defendant then drove to a remote area and let Ms. Uptagrafft out of the vehicle; he then returned to the vehicle.

Shortly thereafter Cornelius Baker again got out of the car and chased down Elizabeth Uptagrafft as she attempted to run from her captors. Cornelius Baker caught up to her and shot her twice. The medical examiner testified Ms. Uptagraftt was first shot in the neck; the bullet entering the left neck/shoulder area and traveling almost straight down exiting the left lower back. The fatal would to Ms. Uptagrafft's forehead was delivered from within 18 inches and while she was still alive.

In order for a crime to be especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel it must conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily tortuous to the victim. Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1992). Fear and emotional strain may be considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the murder, even when the victim's death is almost instantaneous. Lynch v. State, 841 So.2d 362, 269 (Fla. 2003) citing Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992). The Florida Supreme Court has consistently held that "fear, emotional strain, and terror of the victim during the events leading up to the murder may make an otherwise quick death especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." Id. at 369, citations omitted.

In this case Elizabeth Uptagrafft was subjected to hours of absolute hell. One cannot begin to imagine what physical and emotional anguish she experienced from when she was pistol-whipped, watched her family brutalized and held at gunpoint, was then kidnapped, driven around for hours, released to run for her life only to be chased down and shot between the eyes. The Court finds this murder was shockingly evil, outrageously wicked and with utter indifference to the suffering of Elizabeth Uptagrafft; this aggravationg factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. This factor warrants great weight.

(IV 562-564).

## Merits

"To qualify for the HAC circumstance, the crime must be both conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the

victim." Hertz v. State, 803 So.2d 629, 651 (Fla. 2001)(quoting Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107, 1109 (Fla.1992)). "HAC focuses on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death, rather than the intent and motivation of a defendant, where a victim experiences the torturous anxiety and fear of impending death." Barnhill v. State, 834 So.2d 836, 849-850 (Fla. 2002). A finding of whether the defendant intended to inflict pain is not necessary to a finding of HAC. Lugo v. State, 845 So.2d 74, 112 (Fla. 2003); Guzman v. State, 721 So.2d 1155, 1160 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, "[i]n determining whether heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) aggravating factor in death penalty cases was present, focus should be upon victim's perceptions of circumstances as opposed to those of perpetrator." Lynch v. State, 841 So.2d 362, 369 (2003). See also Farina v. State, 801 So.2d 44, 53 (2001).

Applying these principles, it is clear that the court did not err in finding the HAC aggravator. The trial court's factual findings are supported by the record and not disputed by Appellant. Rather than focusing on the precise moment of death, the proper analysis requires the court to look at the entire circumstances confronting the victim. As the trial court recognized, Ms. Uptagrafft suffered an extraordinarily prolonged ordeal, where she was shot in the head, watched her 73-year old mother viciously beaten and her son pistol whipped into unconsciousness, and held hostage at gunpoint for approximately two hours, with a painful gunshot wound to the head, while Appellant ransacked her home.

Ms. Uptagrafft was taken from her home, and lay bleeding in the backseat of her own car while Appellant drove from Daytona Beach to Bunnell, stopping to steal her money from an ATM and to buy drugs. Appellant then drove Ms. Uptagrafft to a remote location, let her out, and then chased her down and shot her twice. Ms. Uptagrafft was alive for both gunshots, the second of which was delivered from less than 18 inches from her face. The State concurs with the trial court's finding that Ms. Uptagrafft was subjected to "hours of absolute hell" at Appellant's hands. These facts are sufficient to support the HAC aggravator. See Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 410 (1992) ("Fear and emotional strain may be considered as contributing to heinous nature of alleged capital murder, even where victim's death is almost instantaneous").

For these reasons, Appellant's assertion that Ms. Uptagrafft "was killed by two quick gunshot wounds and died instantaneously" (IB 53-54) do not demonstrate that the crime was not HAC. Moreover, the State submits that Appellant's suggestion that Ms. Uptagrafft "did not suffer the fear of impending death" and "had no reason to believe that she would be killed at the conclusion of the crime" are flatly belied by the record. Even if one were to believe Appellant's claim that he had no intention of killing Ms. Uptagrafft until it suddenly occurred to him just moments after dropping her off in the middle of the woods, the circumstances were such that any reasonable person would have an overwhelming fear that she was going to be killed.

Appellant cites  $\underline{Farrell\ v.\ State}$ , 686 So.2d 1324 (Fla. 1996), for the proposition that "speculation that the victim may have

realized that the defendants intended more than a robbery when forcing the victim to drive to the field not sufficient to support the aggravating factor of especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel" (IB In Ferrell, the victim had been robbed by the defendants. 54). Ferrell, 686 So.2d at 1326. Two days after the robbery, the defendants were seen together near the victim's truck, from which the victim was dealing crack. One of them held a gun to the victim's head and forced the victim into the driver's seat, and climbed into the back seat behind the victim. Ferrell then got into the truck. As the truck drove away, Ferrell shouted out that the victim would "be back." Id. The following day, police found the victim's truck parked in a field behind a school, with the victim's body was found slumped over in the driver's side seat, killed by bullet wounds. Id. This Court rejected the HAC aggravator, citing from its earlier rejection of HAC in a codefendant's appeal:

> In order for the HAC aggravating circumstance to apply, the murder must be conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victim. Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1992). Execution-style killings are not generally HAC unless the state has presented other evidence to show some physical or mental torture of the victim. In this case the medical examiner could not determine the order in which the shots had been fired and there is no evidence that Hartley deliberately shot the victim to cause him unnecessary suffering. In fact, the evidence reflects that the murder was carried out quickly. Speculation that the victim may have realized that the defendants intended more than a robbery when forcing the victim to drive to the field is insufficient to support this aggravating factor.

Ferrell at 1330.

Ferrell bears little resemblance to this case. The defendants there merely forced the drug-dealing victim into his truck at gunpoint and drove away. Ms. Uptagrafft suffered an ordeal of hours where she had been robbed in her own home, shot in the head, denied even the most basic medical attention, forced to watch as her elderly mother and son beaten by Appellant, driven to the next county out to a remote wooded location, and let out only to be executed by Appellant there. Ferrell does not suggest that the court below erred in finding the HAC aggravator. In short, the trial court properly found the murder to be HAC.

#### Harmless error

Even if the court erred in finding the HAC aggravator, any error was harmless. While this Court has held that HAC is one of the "most serious aggravators set out in the statutory scheme," the cold, calculated, premeditated (CCP) aggravator is equally serious. Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 625 (Fla. 2006)(noting that HAC and CCP were among "the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory scheme," citing Larkins v. State, 739 So.2d 90, 95 (Fla.1999)). As discussed in Issue IV above, the evidence supported the CCP aggravator, as well as the commission of felony and pecuniary gain aggravators. As such, any error in finding the HAC aggravator would be harmless.

 $<sup>^3</sup>$ The same is true of Rimmer v. State, 825 So.2d 304 (Fla. 2002), a store robbery where the victims were bound and then shot after the robbery. Rimmer simply does not contain the same type of violent hours-long ordeal that was present here.

## ISSUE VI

IS THE DEATH SENTENCE PROPORTIONATE? (Restated)

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